ALJ/CFT/hkr Mailed 1/21/2003

Decision 03-01-037 January 16, 2003

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Determine Whether Baseline Allowances for Residential Usage of Gas and Electricity Should Be Revised.

Rulemaking 01-05-047 (Filed May 24, 2001)

(See Attachment A for List of Appearances.)

INTERIM OPINION IN PHASE 2 APPROVING SETTLEMENT ON COMMON AREA ACCOUNTS

139310 - 1 -

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title	Page
INTERIM OPINION IN PHASE 2 APPROVING SETTLEMENT	
ON COMMON AREA ACCOUNTS	2
I. Summary	
II. Background	
A. Procedural History	
B. Context	
III. Summary of Modified Stipulation	
IV. Discussion	
A. Legal Standard	9
B. Choice Between Residential and Commercial Rate Schedules	10
1. Customer Impacts	10
2. Discussion	12
C. Treatment of New Common Area Accounts	14
D. Meter Installation and Reprogramming	15
E. Customer Notice	15
F. Revenue Shortfall	16
G. The Settlement Taken as a Whole	17
V. Comments on Proposed Decision	19
VI. Assignment of Proceeding	20
Findings of Fact	20
Conclusions of Law	23
INTERIM ORDER	25
Attachment A: Appearances	
Attachment B: Stipulation on Common Area Accounts	
in Baseline OIR Phase 2 (Parties' Modified Version)	

INTERIM OPINION IN PHASE 2 APPROVING SETTLEMENT ON COMMON AREA ACCOUNTS

I. Summary

In this opinion, we approve the modified settlement submitted on July 15, 2002, regarding Pacific Gas and Electric Company's (PG&E) residential common area electric accounts. This settlement provides PG&E's common area electric accounts, which are currently served on residential rate schedules, the option to be served on commercial rate schedules. We find that the five-tier residential rate structure adopted in Decision (D.) 01-05-064 is not well suited for application to common area accounts, particularly those with very high usage. The adopted settlement will ameliorate the disproportionately high bill impacts of the residential rate structure on PG&E's larger common area accounts.

In keeping with Rule 51 et seq. of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rules), we approve the modified settlement as being reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest.

II. Background

A. Procedural History

On May 24, 2001, we instituted Rulemaking (R.) 01-05-047 to evaluate whether the utilities' baseline programs should be revised. This review was prompted, in large part, by the unprecedented rate surcharges we have been forced to impose on Californians due to the energy crisis and by our adoption of a rate design relying heavily on baseline quantities to determine which residential customers are affected and to what degree.

The rulemaking has proceeded in two phases. In D.02-04-026 issued in Phase 1, we required that the utilities update baseline allowances to reflect current usage of gas and electricity, increase baseline allowances to the

maximum percentage levels allowed by state law for those customers not already receiving those maximum allowances, and simplify and improve the process by which customers may obtain additional baseline allowances for medical reasons.

A prehearing conference (PHC) for Phase 2 was held on January 31, 2002. The *Scoping Memo of Assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law Judge for Phase 2 of Proceeding* (Scoping Memo), dated February 26, 2002, identified the scope of Phase 2 to include issues related to multiple dwelling unit common areas, in addition to issues related to household characteristics, well water pumping, baseline zones, seasonal effects, proposed legislative changes, and rate impacts of changes to baseline. The Scoping Memo recognized that a settlement regarding multiple dwelling unit common areas would be presented in Phase 2.

The common area settlement is based on a proposal by the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA). Parties pursued the proposal through a series of conferences, including a settlement conference held on March 25, 2002, pursuant to Rule 51.1.

On May 14, 2002, Executive Council of Homeowners (ECHO) filed the *Joint Motion for Adoption of Stipulation on Common Area Accounts in Baseline OIR Phase 2* (Joint Motion). The submitted stipulation was entered into by ECHO, PG&E, ORA, Spinnaker Cove Association, Silk Purse Properties, Post International Owners Association, Inc., and 10 Miller Place Homeowners Association (Stipulating Parties). Of the Stipulating Parties, only ECHO, PG&E, and ORA are parties to this proceeding.

Comments in response to the Joint Motion were filed by San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) and Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas), Aglet Consumer Alliance (Aglet), and Latino Issues Forum and the Greenlining Institute (LIF/Greenlining). Aglet and LIF/Greenlining contested the stipulation, whereas SDG&E and SoCalGas were concerned that the

stipulation not be precedential for their common area accounts. ECHO and PG&E filed reply comments.

On July 15, 2002, ECHO filed a fully executed copy of the *Stipulation on Common Area Accounts in Baseline OIR Phase 2 (Parties' Modified Version)* (Modified Stipulation) which changed the original stipulation to address Aglet's concern that it would give priority to PG&E's largest common area accounts in the move to commercial tariffs. The Modified Stipulation is attached to this order as Attachment B.

On July 23, 2002, LIF/Greenlining filed a motion to strike PG&E's reply comments in their entirety or, alternatively, to strike specific portions of those reply comments. LIF/Greenlining argued that PG&E, in replying to LIF/Greenlining's protest, presented the equivalent of testimony and that a hearing must be held on the contested issues. PG&E replied to the LIF/Greenlining motion to strike on August 7, 2002.

A second PHC for Phase 2 was held on August 15, 2002. At that time, the administrative law judge (ALJ) denied the LIF/Greenlining motion to strike and ruled that an evidentiary hearing should be held on the contested factual issues regarding the settlement. While the signing parties characterize the submitted agreement as a stipulation, we agree with the ALJ that the Modified Stipulation's proposal to give PG&E's common area electric accounts the option of receiving service via commercial tariffs is properly classified under Rule 51 as a settlement ("a mutually acceptable outcome to the proceedings" (Rule 51(c))) rather than a stipulation (an agreement regarding an "issue of law or fact material to the proceeding" (Rule 51(d))).

An evidentiary hearing on the Modified Stipulation was held on September 3, 2002, the first day of the Phase 2 hearings. Testimony was presented by PG&E's witness Philip J. Quadrini, Watergate Community Association's (Watergate) witness Tim Sutherland, and ORA's witness Dexter Khoury.

On September 13, 2002, parties were given the opportunity to make oral statements in lieu of briefs regarding the common area settlement. At that time, LIF/Greenlining withdrew its protest based on the record that had been developed during the evidentiary hearing. The Utility Reform Network (TURN) stated that it does not oppose the settlement, although TURN disagrees about whether it should have precedential value for the other utilities. The record on the Modified Stipulation was submitted following the oral statements.

B. Context

About 1.1 million households served by PG&E live in multifamily dwelling units, including condominium complexes, apartment buildings, and mobile home parks. The bulk of common area electricity usage is for lighting (both outdoors and hallways), laundry rooms, and elevators. Electricity usage among common area accounts varies widely depending on the size of the building and how many meters are used for the common areas.

PG&E's common area electric accounts are served through residential tariffs. Each common area meter has a separate account, and each account receives one baseline allowance.

D.01-05-064 implemented the \$0.03 per kilowatt-hour (kWh) average surcharge authorized in D.01-03-082 for PG&E and Southern California Edison Company (SCE). The new five-tier residential rate structure assesses surcharges for usage above 130 percent of a customer's baseline allowance. PG&E's resulting residential surcharges range up to \$0.11505 per kWh for Tier 5 (usage over 300 percent of baseline). Because most of the usage of large common area accounts falls within the highest tiers, these accounts paid disproportionately

high bills as a result of this rate design. By contrast, PG&E's surcharges for commercial customers do not vary based on usage levels.

PG&E's common area electric accounts have not always received service under residential tariffs. PG&E's common area electric accounts with single-phase service were switched from commercial to residential rates in 1967, and PG&E's common area accounts with poly-phase service (used for large customers) were switched to residential rates beginning in 1992.

No party has requested modifications to the treatment of SCE's and SDG&E's common area electric accounts. Common area accounts served by these utilities have not experienced rate increases of the magnitude experienced by PG&E's larger common area accounts. All of SCE's common area accounts, SDG&E's single-phase accounts serving common areas associated with detached homes, and SDG&E's three-phase common area accounts are on commercial electric schedules and, thus, are not subject to residential tiered charges. While SDG&E's single-phase common area accounts not associated with detached homes are served through residential tariffs, SDG&E does not have a steeply tiered residential rate design like PG&E's. Similarly, no party has indicated a need for the treatment of common area gas accounts to be reconsidered.

III. Summary of Modified Stipulation

The following is a summary of major terms in the Modified Stipulation (attached in its entirety as Attachment B):

<u>Term 1.</u> PG&E's tariffs will be amended to allow common area electric customers the option of taking service on a commercial rate schedule for which they qualify.

<u>Terms 4 and 5.</u> For common area customers choosing a time-of-use (TOU) schedule, a demand-metered schedule, or a demand-metered TOU schedule, PG&E shall install the needed meter, or reprogram

an existing qualified meter, on a first-come, first-served basis according to the date it receives the customer's application.¹

- PG&E will install a TOU or demand meter, or reprogram an existing qualified meter, within 60 days upon receipt of each valid application and payment of the related charges. Exceptions are provided if requests exceed 1,500 per month and during a blackout period when PG&E's new customer information and billing system, CorDaptix, is installed, currently scheduled for late 2002 or early 2003.
- A customer may request service under commercial Schedule A-1 for an interim period pending meter installation or reprogramming needed for other schedules.

<u>Term 7.</u> For a two-calendar-month period beginning 14 months after the Commission approves the stipulation, common area customers who have transferred to a commercial class will have an opportunity to return to the residential class. PG&E will provide written notice to all eligible common area commercial customers of their right of return to a residential schedule within a reasonable time in advance of the beginning of this two-month right-of-return period.

Term 8. Common area customers will have a final opportunity to transfer back to the residential class if both of the following occur: (1) the Commission substantially reduces the three-cent surcharge or substantially amends any or all of PG&E's commercial or residential rate schedules, and (2) ECHO directs PG&E in writing to begin an optional second right-of-return period. PG&E will notify all eligible common area customers within 30 days. This final right-of-return period will begin 15 days after PG&E receives the written directive and will continue for 105 days.

¹ The Modified Stipulation changed the original stipulation to provide first-come, first-served scheduling in response to concerns raised in Aglet's comments.

<u>Term 9.</u> Once the Term 7 right-of-return window has passed and the one described in Term 8 has either passed or is never exercised, common area customers will not be able to transfer to the residential class. If Term 8 is invoked prior to Term 7, this will be the only opportunity for customers to return to the residential class. Term 7 will be void if Term 8 is exercised before the 14-month period ends.

Term 10. During the right-of-return periods, common area customers will be allowed to return to Schedule E-8, even though it is otherwise closed to new customers, if all of the following have occurred: (1) Schedule E-8 has not been terminated in its entirety by the Commission, (2) the Commission authorizes commercial common area customers to return to Schedule E-8 by approving this stipulation, and (3) the returning party compensates PG&E at a fixed charge of \$40 per account for the full cost of manually processing its requests and/or reprogramming its billing system to allow the customer to return.

Term 11. The expected revenue shortfall of up to \$18 million per year from common area migration to commercial schedules must be ruled by the Commission decision adopting the stipulation to be fully recoverable and subject to tracking in a separate, dedicated new balancing account perhaps called the Common Area Balancing Account (CABA). Recovery of the common area migration revenue shortfalls will be effected through whatever Commission decision first determines both class allocation and rate changes needed for revenue neutrality in R.01-05-047. Specifically, the decision on this stipulation would authorize recovery, through future rate changes, of both the uncollected CABA balances and any expected ongoing revenue shortfalls due to common area migration after the rate change decision in R.01-05-047.

Terms 12 and 13. PG&E will have 30 days upon approval of the stipulation by the Commission to mail written confirmation to common area customers correctly designated in its billing system as "common usage" and who would save at least \$100 per year exclusive of any meter installation charge by moving to the commercial class, that this option is now open to them. These customers will receive an historical analysis comparing their bills for

the latest available 12 months on their current residential schedule to the anticipated bills, at the same usage, for commercial rate Schedules A-1, A-6, A-10, and E-19W. All other common area customers will be notified through a bill insert (with no bill analysis) within 90 days of Commission approval of the Stipulation.

IV. Discussion

The Stipulating Parties ask that the Modified Stipulation be accorded expedited treatment rather than being considered at the same time as other Phase 2 issues. In light of the substantial and on-going rate impacts of PG&E's residential rate structure on its larger common area accounts, we agree that separate consideration is appropriate.

A. Legal Standard

The Modified Stipulation would give PG&E's common area electric accounts the option of moving to commercial rate schedules rather than continuing to pay residential rates. While not a modification to the baseline program itself, this proposal arose because of the tiered rate design pegged to baseline allowances that was adopted for residential customers in D.01-05-064. As a result, we believe that the Modified Stipulation is appropriately considered in this proceeding.

Pursuant to Rule 51.1(e), the Commission "will not approve stipulations or settlements, whether contested or uncontested, unless the stipulation or settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest."

In evaluating the Modified Stipulation, we follow the guidance in D.94-04-088 regarding settlements that are not all-party settlements:

"[W]e consider whether the settlement taken as a whole is in the public interest. In so doing, we consider individual elements of the settlement in order to determine whether the settlement generally balances the various interests at stake as well as to assure that each element is consistent with our policy objectives and the law." (D.94-04-088, mimeo. at 10.)

In keeping with that guidance, we consider key provisions of the Modified Stipulation and then address the settlement taken as a whole.

B. Choice Between Residential and Commercial Rate Schedules

1. Customer Impacts

The residential tiered rate structure adopted for PG&E in D.01-05-064 has a disproportionate effect on larger-usage common area accounts, compared to other residential customers. PG&E reported that 16 percent of electricity used in single-family detached housing falls within Tier 4 and Tier 5. At the same time, PG&E's work papers (Exhibit 104) indicate that 46 percent of electricity used by common area accounts falls within Tier 4 and Tier 5. The effect on larger-usage common area accounts is even greater, e.g., 96 percent of the usage of PG&E's 64 largest common area accounts (each consuming over 300,000 kWh per year) falls in Tier 5.² Because more of their usage falls within the upper tiers, common area accounts as a whole pay proportionately higher bills than other types of residential customers.

According to PG&E, about 10 percent of its 90,000 common area accounts would likely benefit from the settlement's proposed optional migration to commercial schedules. About 9,000 accounts would have yearly savings under commercial Schedule A-6 in excess of the cost of a new programmable TOU meter, i.e., \$443. This assessment does not take into account that some common area accounts have an existing TOU meter that would only need to be

² Watergate indicates that approximately 98 percent of its common area usage (which averages 4,700 kWh per day or 1,715,500 kWh per year) is over baseline.

reprogrammed for an \$87 fee. PG&E calculated that almost 15,000 common area accounts would show at least some annual savings from switching to Schedule A-6, excluding any meter costs. Additional customers may benefit from switching to commercial schedules other than Schedule A-6; such customers are not included in PG&E's estimates.

Common area electricity costs are often passed on to a building's occupants indirectly, e.g., through increased rents or homeowners' association fees.³ Reporting that multifamily households use 45 percent less electricity than those living in single-family households, PG&E calculated that, even if common area usage could be allocated to individual multifamily dwelling units, the multifamily dwelling units would still use 35 to 40 percent less electricity than the amount used in single-family detached houses. PG&E contends, as a result, that the disproportionate imposition of surcharges on common area usage is unfair to the multifamily dwellings' occupants.

LIF/Greenlining contested the stipulation initially based on lack of information regarding the socioeconomic status of the common area accounts that would benefit from the stipulation. Because of the "zero-sum game" nature of baseline, LIF/Greenlining argued that the Commission must conduct a balancing test in determining if the settlement is in the public interest.

In response, PG&E presented information regarding the types of multifamily dwellings that have common area accounts and the demographic characteristics of their occupants. PG&E reported that over 80 percent of

³ PG&E points out that, even if a landlord absorbs common area rate increases, the landlord may cut back on maintenance or take other cost-cutting steps that could be detrimental to the occupants.

multifamily dwellings are apartments and that households in multifamily dwellings have average incomes about 25 percent lower than single-family dwellers.

2. Discussion

The evidence submitted in this proceeding indicates that PG&E's current residential rate design with increasing surcharges for usage over 130 percent of baseline allowances is not well suited for application to common area accounts, particularly those with very high usage. This rate structure, which is pegged to average usage of average households, does not reflect common area usage patterns. There is no realistic way for PG&E's larger common area accounts to avoid extensive over-baseline usage, regardless of how efficient they may become. As a result, mandatory application of the current residential rate design to PG&E's common area accounts does not meet the equity goals underlying its adoption.

In D.01-05-064, we declined to adopt a tiered rate design for PG&E's and SCE's commercial and industrial customers, expressing concern that "tiering would harm larger consumers to the benefit of smaller consumers within that class, without regard to their efficiency" (D.01-05-064, mimeo. at 37). In fact, this is what has happened to PG&E's largest common area accounts, which through historical circumstances are subject to the residential tiered rate design, while SCE's common area accounts are not. Despite the plight of PG&E's larger common area accounts, the vast majority of PG&E's common area accounts find residential classification to be beneficial.

Allowing PG&E's common area accounts to switch to commercial schedules would be equitable for PG&E's larger common area customers because it would ameliorate the negative effects of the mismatch between PG&E's current

tiered residential rate design and the usage patterns of common area accounts. At the same time, making the switch optional protects smaller common area accounts from the rate increases they may receive if served through commercial schedules. Further, even if a common area account discovers that its rates are higher after switching to a commercial schedule, the Modified Stipulation provides a window of opportunity during which the customer may return to residential status.

Pub. Util. Code § 739⁴ mandates the utilities' baseline programs. Section 739(a) provides that "the commission shall designate a baseline quantity of gas and electricity which is necessary to supply a significant portion of the reasonable energy needs of the average residential customer." Section 739(d)(2) defines "residential customer" as "those customers receiving electrical or gas service pursuant to a domestic rate schedule, and excludes industrial, commercial, and every other category of customer." Common area customers who transfer to a commercial schedule would cease to be residential customers under § 739 and, therefore, their service would no longer be subject to that section. As a result, the Modified Stipulation is not counter to § 739.

Water Code § 80110, effective February 1, 2001, prohibits the Commission from increasing electricity charges for residential usage up to 130 percent of baseline quantities. Because it is voluntary, the proposed approach in which common area accounts self-select their classification and have an opportunity to return to residential status would not conflict with this statutory prohibition.

 $^4\,$ All statutory cites are to the Public Utilities Code unless specified otherwise.

Finally, since the settlement would tend to help rather than harm lower-income customers, we find that it treats those customers equitably.

For these reasons, we conclude that the provisions of the Modified Stipulation that allow common area customers to take service on commercial rate schedules balance the interests of PG&E's common area and other residential customers and are consistent with our policy objectives and the law.

C. Treatment of New Common Area Accounts

The Modified Stipulation provides right-of-return windows for existing common area accounts for a period after the settlement is implemented. During these windows, common area accounts that migrated to commercial schedules would be allowed to return to residential status. However, it is not clear whether common area accounts created after that period that choose commercial schedules initially would be provided an opportunity to transfer to residential schedules at a later date.

The Modified Stipulation provides that return rights for common area customers could exist for a two-month window beginning 14 months after the Commission approves the stipulation (Term 7) and that ECHO could request that return rights be offered for a three-month window under certain conditions (Term 8). These terms would allow existing common area accounts a second opportunity to assess whether commercial classification is beneficial.

Lacking historical usage data, new common area accounts may not be able to determine at the outset what classification would be most beneficial to them. It would be equitable for them to be provided a right-of-transfer window comparable to the right-of-return window in Term 7 of the Modified Stipulation. Since it does not explicitly address the treatment of new common area accounts, the settlement should be construed to provide new common area accounts a

right-of-transfer window. Each common area account created after the effective date of the settlement that chooses to be served through a commercial schedule should be provided a two-month window, beginning 14 months after it first elects a commercial schedule, during which it may choose residential status. Term 8 should apply to new common area accounts, but the right-of-transfer window should apply regardless of whether or when ECHO exercises Term 8.

PG&E should notify new common area accounts at the time of service initiation that they may elect either residential or commercial service and that, if electing commercial service, they may choose to transfer to residential service during a two-month window beginning after 14 months on commercial service. Notification of these terms should also be included in the bill inserts that PG&E sends to all residential and commercial accounts twice each year notifying them of their rate options. In addition, the right-of-transfer provisions should be reflected in PG&E's residential and commercial tariffs.

D. Meter Installation and Reprogramming

The Modified Stipulation provides that PG&E shall install TOU or demand meters, or reprogram existing qualified meters, on a first-come, first-served basis (Term 5). The original stipulation had allowed PG&E to give preference to larger common area accounts in the timing of meter installations and reprogramming, and the modification was developed in response to Aglet's concerns regarding the discriminatory effects of that preferential treatment. No party objects to the new provision in the Modified Stipulation, and we find that it balances equitably the interests of all common area accounts.

E. Customer Notice

Terms 12 and 13 of the Modified Stipulation provide that PG&E will provide written confirmations and historical bill analyses to common area

customers who would save at least \$100 per year exclusive of meter charges and that all other common area customers will be notified through a bill insert of their option to transfer to a commercial schedule. No party objects to this provision in the Modified Stipulation, and we find it to be reasonable.

PG&E's witness stated that he assumed that the bill inserts would go to all residential customers in case some common area accounts are not identified as such in PG&E's billing system, but that "that's one of the details we haven't worked out yet." (Tr. at 954-955.) In order to ensure that all common area accounts are notified of their option to transfer from residential to commercial schedules, we require that PG&E send the bill insert to all residential customers who do not receive the separate written confirmations and historical bill analyses, regardless of whether PG&E's billing system identifies them as common area accounts.

F. Revenue Shortfall

Assuming that the 9,000 largest common area accounts would migrate to commercial Schedule A-6, PG&E calculated that these customers would save about \$18 million per year, which consists of approximately \$13 million in surcharge savings and \$5 million in other rate savings. Actual revenue shortfalls may vary because PG&E's estimate is based on the A-6 schedule and because the number of migrating customers and their usage levels may differ from the assumed amounts.

The Modified Stipulation provides that revenue shortfalls would be tracked in a new balancing account. Recovery of both the uncollected balance and any expected ongoing revenue shortfalls would be "effected through whatever Commission decision first determines both class allocation and rate changes needed for revenue neutrality in R.01-05-047."

In its comments, Aglet asserted that balancing account treatment of the revenue shortfall should be temporary and should end on the effective date of a revenue requirement decision in PG&E's test year 2003 general rate case. Aglet also recommended that, if the Commission approves the stipulation, allocation of the revenue shortfall should be referred to PG&E's upcoming general rate case. In response, PG&E stated that it agrees that the balancing account should be temporary. PG&E also reported that it and Aglet now agree that related cost allocation issues should be resolved in Phase 2 of this proceeding.

In D.02-04-026, we authorized the use of balancing accounts to track any under-collection or over-collection resulting from the Phase 1 baseline changes, and we deferred cost allocation issues to Phase 2. Consistent with our findings in Phase 1, balancing account treatment of revenue shortfalls resulting from the Modified Stipulation is reasonable. We approve a CABA for that purpose.

We agree with the Stipulating Parties that revenue shortfalls due to the Modified Stipulation, including shortfalls reasonably booked in the CABA and expected ongoing revenue shortfalls, should be fully recoverable. The expected revenue shortfall is relatively modest, and its recovery will not have a significant impact on other ratepayers. We will address allocation and cost recovery issues on an integrated basis with other baseline-related cost impacts in our upcoming decision on remaining Phase 2 issues. We will also address termination of the baseline-related balancing accounts at that time.

G. The Settlement Taken as a Whole

Based on our review of the evidentiary record and the provisions of the Modified Stipulation, we find that this settlement should be adopted. The testimony showed that PG&E's residential tiered rate structure has caused disproportionately high bills for larger common area accounts and that the Modified Stipulation would ameliorate the negative effects of the mismatch between the residential rate design and common area account usage patterns. PG&E also established that the Modified Stipulation would tend to help rather than harm lower-income customers and that it would have no significant impact on other ratepayers. We are convinced that the settlement balances the various interests at stake.

While the settlement was not sponsored by all parties in Phase 2, at the end of the evidentiary hearings in Phase 2, no party actively opposed the settlement. This fact supports our conclusion that the Modified Stipulation is in the public interest.

We have some concerns regarding protection of the interests of new common area accounts, and require that the settlement be construed to provide them a right-of-transfer window comparable to the right-of-return window for existing common area accounts in Term 7 of the Modified Stipulation. We also take steps to ensure that all common area customers are notified of their option to transfer to commercial schedules. With these protections, we conclude that the settlement and concomitant revisions to PG&E's tariffs are consistent with the law, reasonable in light of the whole record, and in the public interest.

Separate from the Modified Stipulation, other common area issues are under consideration in Phase 2, including whether baseline allowances should be modified for residential common area accounts and the treatment of other utilities' common area accounts. We will consider these remaining issues based on the record developed during Phase 2. Our approval of the Modified Stipulation does not constitute approval of, or precedent regarding, any issues remaining in Phase 2 or in any future proceeding.

V. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision of the ALJ in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Pub. Util. Code § 311(d) and Rule 77.1 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.

ORA filed comments in support of the proposed decision. PG&E filed comments requesting that the proposed decision be modified regarding notice requirements and that balancing account treatment be granted for administrative costs triggered by new requirements in the proposed decision that were not contained in the common area settlement.

ECHO and Aglet filed reply comments. ECHO did not object to PG&E's proposed modifications. Aglet opposed PG&E's request for balancing account treatment of administrative costs and asked that Ordering Paragraph 6 state clearly that balancing account treatment is granted for only common area revenue, not cost, under-collections or over-collections.

The proposed decision did not specify how the right-of-transfer provision for new common area accounts should be implemented. We agree with PG&E that individual customer notification at the time of service initiation, with additional notice as part of the routine bill inserts that inform customers of their rate options, would provide adequate notice to new common area customers regarding the right-of-return provision.

We reject PG&E's proposal that it provide notice only through the routine bill inserts to those existing residential customers who are not known common area customers. All existing common area customers should be notified promptly and clearly of their rights under the settlement. Dissemination of this information as one item of many in a twice-yearly bill insert of all rate options would not provide adequate notice of the common area settlement. PG&E should send the common area bill insert specified in the settlement to all

residential customers who do not receive the separate historical bill analyses sent to known large common area accounts.

We are not persuaded by PG&E's arguments regarding balancing account treatment of administrative costs. The adopted treatment of new common area accounts minimizes administrative costs. Further, our requirement that a common area bill insert be sent to all residential customers who do not receive the separate historical bill analyses mirrors the assumption of PG&E's witness and, thus, creates no new administrative costs. We clarify Ordering Paragraph 6 as Aglet requested.

VI. Assignment of Proceeding

Geoffrey Brown is the Assigned Commissioner and Charlotte TerKeurst is the assigned ALJ in this proceeding.

Findings of Fact

- 1. The Commission instituted R.01-05-047 to evaluate whether the utilities' baseline programs should be revised. This review was prompted, in large part, by the unprecedented surcharges we have been forced to impose on Californians and by our adoption of a rate design relying heavily on baseline quantities to determine which residential customers are affected and to what degree.
- 2. In D.01-05-064, the Commission implemented the \$0.03 per kWh average surcharge authorized in D.01-03-082, with PG&E's residential rate increase effected through a new five-tier residential rate structure pegged to customers' baseline allowances.
- 3. PG&E's electric rates for commercial customers do not vary based on usage levels.

- 4. PG&E's common area electric accounts with single-phase service were switched from commercial to residential rates in 1967, and PG&E's common area accounts with poly-phase service were switched to residential rates in 1992.
- 5. In D.94-04-088, we provided guidance that individual elements of settlements should be considered in order to determine whether the settlement generally balances the various interests at stake and to ensure that each element is consistent with our policy objectives and the law.
- 6. The residential tiered rate structure adopted for PG&E in D.01-05-064 has a disproportionate effect on larger-usage common area accounts, compared to other residential customers.
- 7. Many of PG&E's higher-usage common area accounts would benefit from the Modified Stipulation's proposed optional migration to commercial schedules.
- 8. Common area electricity costs are often passed on to a building's occupants.
- 9. PG&E's demographic information indicates that over 80 percent of multifamily dwellings served by PG&E are apartments, and that households in multifamily dwellings have average incomes about 25 percent lower than single-family dwellers.
- 10. PG&E's current residential rate design is not well suited for application to common area accounts, particularly those with very high usage.
- 11. Allowing PG&E's common area accounts to switch to commercial schedules would be equitable for PG&E's larger common area customers and would not harm smaller common area customers.
- 12. The Modified Stipulation treats lower-income customers equitably because it would tend to help rather than harm them.
- 13. The provisions of the Modified Stipulation that allow common area customers to take service on commercial rate schedules balance the interests of

PG&E's common area and other residential customers and are consistent with our policy objectives.

- 14. It is equitable for new common area accounts to be provided a right-of-transfer window comparable to the right-of-return window in Term 7 of the Modified Stipulation.
- 15. The Modified Stipulation's requirement that PG&E install TOU or demand meters, or reprogram existing qualified meters, on a first-come, first-served basis balances equitably the interests of all common area accounts.
- 16. The Modified Stipulation's requirement that PG&E provide written confirmations and historical bill analyses to common area customers who would save at least \$100 per year exclusive of meter charges is reasonable.
- 17. It is reasonable to require that PG&E send a bill insert to all residential customers who do not receive the written confirmations and historical bill analyses, in order to ensure that all common area accounts are notified of their option to transfer from residential to commercial schedules.
- 18. PG&E estimated that common area accounts could save about \$18 million per year from migrating to commercial schedules.
- 19. Recovery of the expected revenue shortfall due to the Modified Stipulation will not have a significant impact on ratepayers.
- 20. Balancing account treatment of revenue shortfalls resulting from the Modified Stipulation is reasonable.
- 21. It is reasonable to allow PG&E to recover revenue shortfalls due to the Modified Stipulation, including shortfalls reasonably booked in the authorized balancing account and expected ongoing revenue shortfalls.
- 22. We will address allocation and cost recovery issues regarding the Modified Stipulation and termination of the CABA in an order on remaining Phase 2 issues.

23. The Modified Stipulation is a reasonable settlement which ameliorates the negative effects of the mismatch between PG&E's current residential rate design and common area usage patterns, balances the various interests at stake, and is consistent with our policy objectives.

Conclusions of Law

- 1. In compliance with Rule 51.2, the Modified Stipulation was proposed after the first PHC in this proceeding.
 - 2. The Modified Stipulation is a settlement within the meaning of Rule 51(c).
- 3. The baseline program required by § 739 does not apply to customers receiving electrical service through commercial schedules.
- 4. Section 739 does not constrain the Commission from allowing PG&E's common area accounts to transfer voluntarily from a residential schedule to a commercial schedule.
- 5. Water Code § 80110, effective February 1, 2001, prohibits the Commission from increasing electricity charges for residential usage up to 130 percent of baseline quantities.
- 6. The voluntary transfer of electric common area accounts from PG&E residential schedules to PG&E commercial schedules would not violate Water Code § 80110.
- 7. The Modified Stipulation should be construed to provide new common area accounts a right-of-transfer window.
- 8. The parties' recommendation that the Modified Stipulation have no precedential effect is reasonable and should be adopted.
- 9. Consistent with Rule 51.1(e), the Modified Stipulation is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest, and should be adopted.

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr

10. This order should be effective today, so that the Modified Stipulation may be implemented expeditiously.

INTERIM ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that:

- 1. The *Stipulation on Common Area Accounts in Baseline OIR Phase 2 (Parties' Modified Version)* (Modified Stipulation), filed on July 15, 2002, is adopted, as set forth in Attachment B.
- 2. Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) shall provide each common area electric account created after the effective date of the Modified Stipulation that chooses to be served through a commercial schedule a two-month window, beginning 14 months after it first elects a commercial schedule, during which it may choose residential status.
- 3. Term 8 of the Modified Stipulation shall apply to new common area electric accounts.
- 4. The right-of-transfer window required in Ordering Paragraph 2 shall apply regardless of whether or when Term 8 of the Modified Stipulation is exercised.
- 5. PG&E shall send a bill insert to all residential customers who do not receive written confirmations and historical bill analyses, informing them that common area accounts have an option to transfer from residential to commercial schedules.
- 6. PG&E shall establish a Common Area Balancing Account (CABA) and record in the CABA any revenue under-collection or over-collection resulting from implementation of the Modified Stipulation.
- 7. PG&E shall file and serve a compliance advice letter within 30 days of the effective date of this decision to update its residential and commercial tariffs to

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr

implement the Modified Stipulation. The advice letter will become effective after appropriate review by the Energy Division.

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr

8. Adoption of the Modified Stipulation does not constitute approval of, or precedent regarding, any issues remaining in Phase 2 or in any future proceeding.

This order is effective today.

Dated January 16, 2003, at San Francisco, California.

MICHAEL R. PEEVEY
President
CARL W. WOOD
LORETTA M. LYNCH
GEOFFREY F. BROWN
SUSAN P. KENNEDY
Commissioners

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr*** **ATTACHMENT A** *** **Appearances**

James Weil

AGLET CONSUMER ALLIANCE

PO BOX 1599

FORESTHILL CA 95631

(530) 367-3300 jweil@aglet.org

For: Aglet Consumer Alliance

Bruce W. Folsom

ANALYST/COORDINATOR PO BOX 3727, MSC-29

SPOKANE WA 99220-3727

(509) 495-8706

bruce.folsom@avistacorp.com

For: Avista Utilities

Lon W. House Energy Advisor

ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA WATER AGENCIES

4901 FLYING C ROAD

CAMERON PARK CA 95682-9615

(530) 676-8956

lwhouse@innercite.com

For: Regional Council of Rural Counties

Ronald Liebert

Attorney At Law

CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION

2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO CA 95833

(916) 561-5657 rliebert@cfbf.com

For: California Farm Bureau Federation

Paul Angelopulo

Attorney At Law

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

LEGAL DIVISION

505 VAN NESS AVENUE

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102

(415) 703-4742

pfa@cpuc.ca.gov

For: ORA

Frederick Ortlieb

Deputy City Attorney

CITY OF SAN DIEGO

1200 THIRD AVENUE, 11TH FLOOR

SAN DIEGO CA 92101

(619) 236-6220

fmo@sdcity.sannet.gov

For: City of San Diego

Dan L. Carroll Attorney At Law

DOWNEY BRAND SEYMOUR & ROHWER, LLP

555 CAPITOL MALL, 10TH FLOOR

SACRAMENTO CA 95814

(916) 441-0131

dcarroll@dbsr.com

For: Mountain Utilities

John Dutcher

3210 CORTE VALENCIA

FAIRFIELD CA 94534-7875

(707) 426-4003

ralf1241a@cs.com

For: Mountain Utilities

Tim Sutherland

GENERAL MANAGER

WATERGATE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION

8 CAPTION DRIVE

EMERYVILLE CA 94608

GenMgrWCA@aol.com

For: WATERGATE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION

Paul Kerkorian

Attorney At Law

726 W. BARSTOW, SUITE 108

FRESNO CA 93704

(559) 261-9232

pk@utilitycostmanagement.com

For: Executive Council of Homeowners

Enrique Gallardo

Attorney At Law

LATINO ISSUES FORUM

785 MARKET STREET, SUITE 300

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103

(415) 547-7550

enriqueg@lif.org

For: The Greenlining Institute and Latino Issues Forum

Susan E. Brown

Attorney At Law

LATINO ISSUES FORUM

785 MARKET STREET. 3RD FLOOR

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94103-2003

(415) 284-7220

lifcentral@lif.org

For: Latino Issues Forum

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr*** **ATTACHMENT A** *** **Appearances**

William H. Booth Attorney At Law

LAW OFFICES OF WILLIAM H. BOOTH 1500 NEWELL AVENUE, 5TH FLOOR

WALNUT CREEK CA 94596

(925) 296-2460

wbooth@booth-law.com

For: California Large Energy Consumers Association

Patricia A. Schmiege Attorney At Law

OMELVENY & MYERS, LLP

275 BATTERY STREET, 26TH FLOOR

SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111

(415) 984-8715

pschmiege@omm.com

For: Southern California Water Company

Gail L. Slocum Attorney At Law

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

77 BEALE STREET, B30A SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105

(415) 973-6583 glsg@pge.com For: PG&E

Shawna Parks Attorney At Law

449 - 15TH STREET, SUITE 303

OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 451-8644

sparks@dralegal.org

For: Disability Rights Advocates & CA Foundation for

Independent Living Centers

Julia Tsao

SAN DIEGO GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY

8315 CENTURY PARK COURT, CP22-D

SAN DIEGO CA 92123-1550

(858) 654-1765

jtsao@semprautilities.com For: SDG&E /SoCal Gas

David M. Norris Attorney At Law

SIERRA PACIFIC POWER COMPANY 6100 NEIL ROAD, PO BOX 10100

RENO NV 89520 (775) 834-5696 dnorris@sppc.com For: Sierra Pacific Georgetta J. Baker Attorney At Law

SOCAL GAS AND SDG&E 101 ASH STREET, HQ13 SAN DIEGO CA 92101

(619) 699-5064

gbaker@sempra.com

For: SoCal Gas and SDG&E

David R. Garcia

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE

ROSEMEAD CA 91770 David.Garcia@sce.com

For: Southern California Edison Company

James M. Lehrer

Attorney At Law

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY

2244 WALNUT GROVE AVENUE

ROSEMEAD CA 91770

(626) 302-3252

james.lehrer@sce.com

For: Southern California Edison Company

Stacy Van Goor

Attorney At Law

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS CO & SDG&E

101 ASH STREET, HQ13 SAN DIEGO CA 92101

(619) 699-5070

svangoor@sempra.com For: SoCal Gas & SDG&E

Keith Switzer

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY

630 E. FOOTHILL BOULEVARD SAN DIMAS CA 91773-9016

(909) 394-3600 X 759 kswitzer@scwater.com

For: Southern California Water Company

Bridget Branigan

EDWARD B. GIESEKING

Senior Counsel

SOUTHWEST GAS CORPORATION

PO BOX 98510

5241 SPRING MOUNTAIN ROAD

LAS VEGAS NV 89193-8510

(702) 876-7396

bridget.branigan@swgas.com For: Southern Gas Corporation

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr*** **ATTACHMENT A** *** **Appearances**

James Van Nostrand STOEL RIVES L.L.P. 900 S.W. FIFTH AVE., SUITE 2300 PORTLAND OR 97204-1268 (503) 294-9246 For: PacifiCorp

James F. Fell STOEL RIVES LLP 111 SUTTER STREET, SUITE 700 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 617-8968 jffell@stoel.com For: Pacificorp

James Paine Attorney At Law STOEL RIVES, LLP 900 SW 5TH AVE STE. 2600 PORTLAND OR 97204-1268 (503) 294-9246 jcpaine@stoel.com For: PacifiCorp

Matthew Freedman Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 711 VAN NESS AVENUE, SUITE 350 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 929-8876 EX314 freedman@turn.org For: TURN

Leslie Zablen
WATERGATE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION
8 CAPTAIN DRIVE
EMERYVILLE CA 94608
(510) 601-7465
Lz344@cs.com
For: Watergate Community Association

Natalie Wales Legal Division RM. 4107 505 VAN NESS AVE San Francisco CA 94102 (415) 355-5490 ndw@cpuc.ca.gov

R.01-05-047 ALJ/CFT/hkr*** **ATTACHMENT A** *** **Appearances**

(END OF ATTACHMENT A)

Attachment B

Stipulation on Common Area Accounts in Baseline OIR Phase 2 (Parties' Modified Version)